

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
FORT MYERS DIVISION
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GM Board of Directors Sued in a Personal Capacity
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And

ELLEN J. KULLMAN,
GM Board of Directors Sued in a Personal Capacity
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And

PHILLIP A. LASKAWY,
GM Board of Directors Sued in a Personal Capacity

300 Renaissance Center

Detroit, MI. 48265-3000


Defendant Person
And

E. STANLEY O’NEAL,
GM Board of Directors Sued in a Personal Capacity

300 Renaissance Center

Detroit, MI. 48265-3000


Defendant Person
And

ECKHARD PFEIFFER,
GM Board of Directors Sued in a Personal Capacity

300 Renaissance Center

Detroit, MI. 48265-3000


Defendant Person
And

CAROLYN WESTBERG,
GM Customer Relationship Manager Sued in a Personal Capacity

C/O 300 Renaissance Center

Detroit, MI. 48265-3000
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RUMBERGER, KIRK & CALDWELL

Attorneys at Law

100 North Tampa Street

Suite 2000

Tampa, FL. 33601-3390
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	 Case No. 2:09-CV-18-FtM-99DNF
  VERIFIED COMPLAINT

  RICO ACT LAWSUIT

  (Pursuant to Racketeer and

  Corrupt Organizations Act,

  18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. Seq.)

1. 18 U.S.C. §1962(c)

2. 18 U.S.C. §1962(d) 

  and

  DIVERSITY LAWSUIT
  FOR OBSTRUCTION OF

  JUSTICE, AND RACKETEERING
  And

  BAILOUT MONEY FRAUD BY

  GM CEO G. RICHARD WAGONER
  WITH DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

  


I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1. This is a lawsuit against a Rico Act Crime Family, controlling General Motors, that is engaged in massive Racketeering, such as ongoing Wire Fraud, Mail Fraud, Manslaughter, Obstruction to America’s Courts, and most recent the swindling, and misappropriation, of Billions of Federal Bailout Tax Dollars, resulting in millions of victims, including Plaintiff, who is being illegally harmed with misappropriated bailout dollars.
2. This lawsuit is lengthy, because of the number of Defendants, the vast number of schemes of Racketeering by Defendants, and the extremely large number of Predicate Rico Acts by Defendants, that despite Plaintiff attempting to keep this Complaint brief, resulted in requiring a substantial length, to contain all the legal elements required for the complex Rico Counts, and other issues.
3. This is a Pro Se Lawsuit, pursuant to subsection 1962(c), and 1962(d) of the Rico Act, by a victim, against a General Motors Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise, a Crime Family, consisting of the named Governance, and employees, of General Motors, including the Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell Law Firm, who are engaged in multiple patterns of racketeering activity, through their Association-In-Fact-Rico Enterprise.

II. JURY DEMAND

4. Plaintiff DEMANDS a Jury Trial in the instant case.
III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. The events giving rise to the claims in this lawsuit occurred in Charlotte County Florida.
6. Plaintiff seeks jurisdiction pursuant to the Federal Civil Rico Statutes, concurrent with Diversity.

7.  At all times in this case Plaintiff resided in Charlotte County Florida, while GM Defendants reside in Michigan, and Defendant, Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell is an interstate Law Firm. The amount in controversy greatly exceeds seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000), thereby authorizing jurisdiction pursuant to diversity, in addition to the Rico Act Claims.
8. Plaintiff also seeks to resolve a couple of Constitutional Questions.
9. Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief, compensatory, and punitive damages, and injunctive relief, as well as any other relief that he is entitled to.
IV. Parties

10. Plaintiff, Billy Ray Kidwell, is a male resident of the State of Florida. He is a disabled person within the meaning of the Americans with Disabilities Act, and is rated at 100% Total Service-Connected by the Department of Veterans Affairs, and was found by Federal Administrative Law Judge, Farr, to be totally disabled. Plaintiff’s address is; Billy Kidwell, 5064 Silver Bell Drive, Port Charlotte, FL. 33948.
11. Defendant, G. RICHARD WAGONER, is the CEO of GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; CEO G. Richard Wagoner, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
12. Defendant, PERCY N. BARMEVIK, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; Percy N. Barmevik, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
13. Defendant, ERSKINE B. BOWLES, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; Erskine B. Bowles, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
14. Defendant, JOHN H. BRYAN, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; John H. Bryan, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.

15. Defendant, ARMANDO M. CODINA, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; Armando M. Codina, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
16. Defendant, GEORGE M.C. FISHER, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; George M.C. Fisher, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000. 
17. Defendant, KAREN KATEN, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however she is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of her place of usual abode however her business address is; Karen Katen, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
18. Defendant, KENT KRESA, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; Kent Kresa, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.

19. Defendant, ELLEN J. KULLMAN, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however she is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of her place of usual abode however her business address is; Ellen J. Kullman, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
20. Defendant, PHILLIP A. LASKAWY, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; Phillip A. Laskawy, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
21. Defendant, E. STANLEY O’NEAL, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; E. Stanley O’Neal, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.
22. Defendant, ECKHARD PFEIFFER, at all times described in this Complaint, was on the Board of Directors for GM, however he is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of his place of usual abode however his business address is; Eckhard Pfeiffer, Board of Directors, General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.

23.  Defendant, CAROLYN WESTBERG, at all times described in this Complaint, was a Customer Relationship Manager for GM, however she is being sued in a Personal Capacity for wrongful conduct not authorized by GM, as a member in a Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise committed for personal gain. This Defendant is concealing the address of her place of usual abode however her business address is; CAROLYN WESTBERG, C/O General Motors Corporation, 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, MI. 48265-3000.

24. Defendant, RUMBERGER, KIRK & CALDWELL, at all times described in this Complaint, was a Law Firm that is a member of the General Motors Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise at issue in this lawsuit. This Defendant’s address is; Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, 100 North Tampa Street, Suite 2000, Tampa, FL. 33601-3390.
V. TERMS USED
25. The term “GM” refers to the General Motors Corporation.
26. The term “Named GM Board of Directors” refers to Defendant Persons, PERCY N. BARMEVIK, ERSKINE B. BOWLES, JOHN H. BRYAN, ARMANDO M. CODINA, GEORGE M.C. FISHER, KAREN KATEN, KENT KRESA, ELLEN J. KULLMAN, PHILLIP A. LASKAWY, E. STANLEY O’NEAL, and ECKHARD PFEIFFER, both individually, and as a group.
27.  The term “Defendants” refers to all Defendants.

28.  The term “G. Richard Wagoner GM Rico Crime Family” refers to the General Motors Association-In-Fact Rico Enterprise that is being sued in this case, and consists of all the Defendants in this lawsuit.

VI. FACTS OF CASE

(a) December 2008 Plaintiff Discovers That He Is a Rico Victim
29. Plaintiff has a Lemon Law Lawsuit in State Court against the General Motors Corporation. [Case 05-1747-CA].

30. In that State Lawsuit GM’s Attorneys are the Defendant, the law firm of Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell.

31. Defendant Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell have a history, pattern & custom of unethical conduct, and discovery abuse, while representing General Motors in Florida’s Courts, by Obstructing, or Hindering, Access to the Courts to GM Consumer Victims, including Plaintiff.
32. This unethical conduct, by said Defendant, includes using dilatory, and OBSTRUCTION “Tactics”, such as concealing evidence, falsifying evidence, lying to the Court, and deceiving both the Pro Se Litigant, and the State Court, as to the actual material facts, in the State Lawsuit.

33. In December of 2008, in the state lawsuit pursuant to a discovery request, the Defendant, Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, provided the Plaintiff with documents Defendants Richard Wagoner, the named GM Board of Directors, and Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, had been concealing from Plaintiff, and the Courts, for four (4) years.
34. Those documents given to Plaintiff in December 2008, revealed to Plaintiff for the first time, Defendants had falsified, and concealed, evidence, that was necessary for Plaintiff to have “Meaningful” Access to the Florida Chapter 681 Lemon Law Process, and to the State Court.
35. Those documents proved Defendant Westberg was so busy falsifying GM records, that she became confused and actually created three separate fake letters for December 14, 2004, she fraudulently claims were sent to Plaintiff, that actually conflict with each other, and led Plaintiff to evidence of Racketeering by Defendants far more appalling, and on a much larger scale, than any established Mafia Family has ever done.

36. The Defendant Westberg Documents also contained proof of perjury, and proof GM Officials falsified, and concealed evidence, to illegally rig the state Lemon Law Process Plaintiff was in with GM, and to deny the Plaintiff Due Process, and his statutory Lemon Law Rights.

37. That discovery also revealed to the Plaintiff, for the first time, that the Defendants in this lawsuit are members of a Rico Association-In Fact Enterprise, and liable pursuant to Federal Rico Statutes, for triple damages.

38. Plaintiff, with due diligence, had no way of discovering about this Rico Association-In-Fact Enterprise, that he is a victim of, or the many Acts of Racketeering by Defendants, other than by means of the discovery documents, Defendants were concealing, and did not provide to Plaintiff until December of 2008.
39. The Rico Violations complained about in this lawsuit started in 2003 and are ongoing, and continue today.

(b) OBSTRUCTION to Lemon Law Process and Courts
40. Said discovery documents proved that Defendants had intentionally violated Plaintiff’s First Amendment, Due Process Rights, Equal Protection of the Law Rights, and Florida Chapter 681 Rights, and OBSTRUCTED Plaintiff in his access to Florida’s Lemon Law Process, by concealing evidence that was absolutely necessary for Plaintiff’s Access to Florida’s Lemon Law Process, and Courts, to be “Meaningful”.

41. Said documents proved that Defendants had intentionally violated Plaintiff’s First Amendment, Due Process Rights, Equal Protection of the Law Rights, and Florida Chapter 681 Rights, and OBSTRUCTED Plaintiff in his access to Florida’s Lemon Law Process, and Court System, by creating fraudulent evidence, and falsifying evidence Defendants presented, while lying, and committing Perjury, to Florida Lemon Law Officials, which rendered Plaintiff’s Access to Florida’s Lemon Law Process, and Court System, a complete farce.

42. Said documents proved that Defendants had intentionally violated Plaintiff’s First Amendment, Due Process Rights, Equal Protection of the Law Rights, and Florida Chapter 681 Rights, and OBSTRUCTED Plaintiff in his access to Florida’s Lemon Law Process, by concealing evidence, falsifying facts, and committing perjury which actually changed the outcome of the Lemon Law Process.

43. Said documents led Plaintiff to research that revealed that Defendants have a long history, pattern, and custom of Obstruction in the Lemon Law Process to obstruct victims, like the Plaintiff.

44. Said documents led Plaintiff to research case law that revealed that Defendants have a long history, pattern, and custom of Obstruction, in the form of discovery abuse, lying, concealing evidence, and similar dishonest conduct in just about every case filed by a victim against GM, or Defendants.

45. Said research has revealed that Defendants have done massive harm to the credibility of America’s Court Systems, and there are records of Defendant’s OBSTRUCTION, and Court Corruption, throughout the Federal System, in Eleventh Circuit Cases, and throughout the State System, all the way to the Florida Supreme Court, severely “tainting” both judicial systems.
46. It is of Great Public Importance, for the credibility of America’s Courts, that this Court put an end to Defendant’s ongoing illegal policy of OBSTRUCTION in the Courts that violates the Constitutional, and Statutory, Rights of every GM Victim.

47. Defendants used the United States Mail in their scheme to Obstruct Plaintiff’s Access to Florida’s Lemon Law Process, and the Courts, by sending fake, and falsified, documents to Plaintiff, Lemon Law Officials, and the Courts through the U.S. Mail System, which furthered their criminal scheme, and constituted Mail Fraud.
48. The OBSTRUCTION to the Lemon Law Process, and Courts, by using criminal “Tactics”, such as falsifying evidence, and committing Perjury, constituted Predicate Rico Acts.

49.  The above proves that Defendants were engaged in substantial Racketeering by means of Wire Fraud, Mail Fraud, Obstruction, Perjury, Conspiracy, and related crimes.
(c) The Association-In-Fact Rico Enterprise
50. CEO G. Richard Wagoner, the named GM Board of Directors, Defendant Carolyn Westberg, and Defendant Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, are members of a General Motors Association-In-Fact Rico Enterprise.
51. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, the named GM Board of Directors, Defendant Carolyn Westberg, and Defendant Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, are all “persons” as described at Title 18 § 1961(3).
52. For purposes of this lawsuit the General Motors Association-In-Fact Rico Enterprise named in paragraph fifty (50) above is referred to hereinafter as the “G. Richard Wagoner GM Rico Crime Family”.
53. This “G. Richard Wagoner GM Rico Crime Family” is composed of a relatively loose-knit group of people, and the legal entity of the Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell Law Firm, that form an Enterprise, as described in Title 18 § 1961(4), very similar to a Mafia Crime Family, or Organized Crime Family.
54. This Rico “Enterprise”, the G. Richard Wagoner GM Rico Crime Family, possesses three characteristics, a continuity of structure, and personnel, a common or shared purpose, and an ascertainable structure distinct from that inherent in the pattern of racketeering.
55. This Rico “Enterprise” has a continuity of structure, and personnel, with GM CEO Richard Wagoner, and the GM Board of Directors in charge, similar to a Mafia Don, and his Lieutenants, with Defendants Carolyn Westberg, and Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell being “soldiers”, much like in the mob.
56. The members of the G. Richard Wagoner GM Rico Crime Family have a shared purpose of profiting, or enhancing their employment, or lot in life, by the Racketeering Acts described in this Civil Complaint.
57. Sometimes their shared purpose is to cover-up prior wrongful acts, or crimes, committed by members of their Rico Enterprise, the G. Richard Wagoner Rico Crime Family.

58. The members of the G. Richard Wagoner GM Rico Crime Family also have a shared purpose of doing whatever it takes to make sure the truth is concealed, and never makes it to a Lemon Law Hearing, or to the Courts, when a victim, such as the Plaintiff, seeks redress for a Lemon GM Vehicle.
59. This Rico “Enterprise” is separate, and distinct, from the predicate Rico Acts, and contains an Organizational Pattern, beyond what was necessary to perpetrate the predicate crime(s).
60. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, the named GM Board of Directors, Defendant Carolyn Westberg, and Defendant Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, all, operate, and manage, the Rico Enterprise.
61. Defendant Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, a law firm, has full knowledge of the many, ongoing Rico violations, and has a history, pattern, and custom of intentionally violating the Canons of Ethics for Attorneys, and minimum standards for professional conduct by an attorney, by Obstructing, or hindering, Access to the Courts.
62. Defendant Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, a law firm, has a history, pattern, and custom of racketeering, and intentionally violating the First Amendment, and Due Process Rights, of GM Victims, by various means, such as Mail Fraud, lying to the Courts, deceiving the Court with fraudulent motions, using dilatory tactics, concealing evidence, suborning perjury, and otherwise trying to keep the truth from the Court.
(d) Defendant’s Wire Fraud, and Mail Fraud, Advertising Scheme
63. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, Defendant Carolyn Westberg, and Defendant Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, all have a long history, pattern, and custom of Racketeering Activity consisting of Wire Fraud, Mail Fraud, Obstruction to Federal Agencies, Obstruction to the Courts, Conspiracy, Manslaughter, and other crimes.
64. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, have a long history, pattern, and custom of committing Wire Fraud, in direct violation Title 18 § 1343, by using Television, and Radio, to run fraudulent advertising, in interstate commerce, about General Motors Products, as part of a scheme to defraud, and cheat, prospective consumers out of money, by means of false, and fraudulent pretenses.
65. From at least 1996, to the present, the Florida Plaintiff, Billy Ray Kidwell has been a customer of Comcast, watching television stations such as WGN-TV from Illinois, CNBC from Manhattan, and TNT out of Atlanta at his home on cable.
66. In September, November, and December of 2002, prior to the purchase by Plaintiff of a 2003 Chevy S-10, GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and caused to be broadcast in interstate commerce on television stations, including WGN-TV, CNBC, and TNT, many fraudulent GM Ads claiming GM Trucks are “Built Like a Rock”, and that Chevy is the most dependable, longest lasting, trucks on the road.
67. Those interstate commerce ads were far beyond “mere puffery”, and made false factual representations, that were intentionally deceptive, and part of a scheme by Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, to create a fraudulent representation of GM Vehicles.

68. Those interstate commerce ads were broadcast in bad faith to defraud, and cheat, prospective GM Consumers, including Plaintiff, out of money, by means of false, and fraudulent pretenses, in direct violation of Title 18 § 1343.
69. At the time GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, said Defendants were fully aware that thousands, and thousands, of GM Trucks had a Piston Slap Problem.
70. At the time GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, said Defendants were fully aware that some GM Trucks had a defective Gas Gauge.
71. When GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, said Defendants were fully aware that some of their GM Trucks had a Transmission Whine, or slipping transmission.
72. When GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, said Defendants were fully aware that some GM Trucks had a door water leak, or a window, or windshield leak.
73. When GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, said Defendants were fully aware that some GM Trucks had an electrical short, or electrical problems.
74. When GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, said Defendants were fully aware that some GM Trucks had a third door problem, where the plastic door handle would break.
75. When GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, said Defendants were fully aware that some GM Trucks had problems with the brake system.
76. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, knew that such a substantial number of 2003 GM Trucks had problems of one kind or another, as is described in paragraphs sixty-nine (69) to seventy-five (75) above, that it rendered the Defendants “Built Like a Rock” ads, and “Chevy is the most Dependable Truck” ads, factually untrue.
77. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, also knew that they were discontinuing the Chevy S-10 and that when a truck line is shut down, or a GM Plant is closed, there is a higher than average probability of defects in the last vehicles being produced.
78. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, did not make prospective 2003 Chevy S-10 Truck buyers, including the Plaintiff, aware in the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, that GM was discontinuing the Chevy S-10.
79. GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, did not make prospective 2003 Chevy S-10 Truck buyers, including the Plaintiff, aware in the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraphs sixty-six (66), to sixty-eight (68) above, that GM trucks had all the problems described in paragraphs sixty-nine (69) to seventy-five (75) above.
80. Plaintiff watched, at a minimum, thirty (30) of those fraudulent GM Truck Ads by Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, in September, November, and December of 2002, falsely claiming that GM Trucks were “Built Like a Rock”, and that Chevy is the most dependable, longest lasting, trucks on the road, while said ads were completely silent as to the many known problems with GM Vehicles, such as GM’s famous engine Piston Slap.
81. Those thirty (30) fraudulent ads described in paragraph eighty (80) above were untrue as to the actual material facts and intended by Defendants to create a fraudulent representation of GM Trucks.
82. Those thirty (30) fraudulent ads described in paragraph eighty (80) above constituted thirty (30) separate acts of wire fraud in interstate commerce in violation of Title 18 § 1343 by Defendants G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors.

83. In September, November, and December of 2002, GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and caused to be broadcast in interstate commerce on television stations, including WGN-TV, CNBC, and TNT, a minimum of thirty (30) fraudulent GM Ads claiming GM Trucks have a written warranty, with the ads either stating, or so strongly implying, that GM honored it’s written warranty, which is factually not true.
84. At the time GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and ran the fraudulent GM Truck Ads, described in paragraph eighty-three (83) above, they knew that GM did not honor it’s highly advertised warranty, as to the Piston Slap Problem, and also as to many other defects, and that said warranty was only arbitrarily, and capriciously complied with.

85. Defendants Television ads, as described in paragraph eighty-four (84) above was factually untrue and intended by Defendants to create a false, or fraudulent, representation of GM Trucks, thereby constituting thirty (30) intentional acts of wire fraud in direct violation of Title 18 § 1343.
86. As a direct result of the fraudulent advertising scheme by Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, to defraud, deceive, and cheat, prospective GM Consumers out of money, by means of false, and fraudulent pretenses, in direct violation of Title 18 § 1343, the Plaintiff purchased a brand new Chevy S-10 for $26,157.63.
87. Prior to purchasing said Chevy S-10 on January 20, 2003 Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, advertised in interstate commerce that Chevy S-10’s with extended cabs only cost $19,000.00, and had a $3,500 off rebate.
88. Plaintiff did not receive the $3,500 advertised rebate and had been overcharged over $7,000 while being deceived about the Piston Slap, and many known problems with the Chevy S-10, which constituted additional acts of wire fraud.
89. Plaintiff was actually overcharged over $10,000.00, if you count the $3,500 rebate, advertised by Defendants.
90. The intentional Wire Fraud by Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, as described above, had deceived the Plaintiff, and cheated him out of thousands of dollars.
91. Before the Defendants ran the fraudulent ads described above they not only knew they had defective engines in GM Vehicles known as a Piston Slap, or Piston Knock, but they had received thousands of Complaints from GM Customers, and had settled many lawsuits that had been filed against GM for the Piston Slap Problem.
92. GM engineers had even advised Corporate Governance at GM that many of GM’s Engines were defective, and had a Piston Slap.
93. GM even designed a new piston, and had plans to correct the faulty engines, until GM Corporate Governance decided it was more “Cost Effective” to keep silent about the problem, and to just defraud consumers.
94. Despite knowing that large numbers of GM Vehicles were defective, GM defrauded the public, including Plaintiff, by fraudulently representing that GM Vehicles were of high quality, and by intentionally deceiving the public about the Piston Slap Problem, in their radio, and Television, Advertising, which presented GM Vehicles as being well built, without problems.
95. From September of 2002 to the present, GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, approved, and caused to be broadcast in interstate commerce on television stations, thousands of advertisements, fraudulently claiming that they have a “Mr. Goodwrench” mechanic at their dealerships that is honest with consumers.
96. In reality General Motors instructed its “Mr. Goodwrench” mechanics at its dealerships to purposefully lie to consumers, and fraudulently claim that the engine piston slap, or engine knock problem, and other vehicle defects, and engine noises, are “normal”.
97. When the Pro Se Litigant kept complaining about the engine knock, and related engine problems, “Mr. Goodwrench” at Palm Chevy in Punta Gorda kept lying to the Pro Se Litigant, and kept telling him the engine knock was “normal”, and that General Motors Engines produce more horsepower by knocking.
98. The claim by Defendants G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, that engines with a piston slap produce more horsepower, is an out, and out, lie.
99. All of the thousands of television ads by Defendants G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, from September of 2002 to the present, about a “Mr. Goodwrench”, are fraudulent, as to the actual material facts, and constitute thousands of acts of wire Fraud in violation of Title 18 § 1343, by those Defendants.
100. Sporadically the Plaintiff received advertisements by U.S. Mail in which Defendants G. Richard Wagoner, and the GM Board of Directors, made similar fraudulent claims, as they did in their television advertising, that “GM Trucks were Built Like a Rock”, that they were the most dependable trucks, that they had a written warranty, and those written advertisements were worded to make the consumer, including Plaintiff, believe GM abided by said written warrant.

101. Those sporadic fraudulent mail advertisements by GM Corporate Governance, CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, also often contained fraudulent statements about a “Mr. Goodwrench” being at GM Dealerships.

102. Those sporadic fraudulent mail advertisements by GM Corporate Governance, CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, constituted intentional acts of Mail Fraud, in direct violation of Title 18 § 1341.
103. CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, knew that the advertising they caused to be sent by U.S. Mail was not truthful, and that it was part of a scheme to defraud thousands of prospective GM Customers, including Plaintiff, out of money, by U.S. Mail.
104. Plaintiff was deceived as a result of the fraudulent U.S. Mail advertising by those Defendants.
105. Defendants scheme to defraud was advanced, concealed, and furthered by the Wire, and Mail Fraud, as described herein, and also by a conspiracy among Defendants.
(e) GM’S Piston Slap Fraud

106. When manufacturing engines in the Select Build Process pistons and cylinders, are matched for size and fit.
107. Around 1998 GM switched from a “Select Build” method of manufacturing, and/or assembling engines to a “Net Build” method, in order to save money on manufacturing, and/or assembly.
108. In contrast, GM’s new Net Build Method of manufacturing, and/or assembly, assumes all pistons will fit equally well in all cylinders, and does not allow for variations in the size of engine cylinders, or pistons.
109. Pistons of slightly varying size (all within spec) are not individually matched with the cylinders of slightly varying size (all within spec.).
110. Excessive “piston slap” occurs because an automobile manufacturer, in this case GM, designs, and/or manufactures, a defective engine in which the clearance between the piston, and cylinder bore is too great.
111. The result is the piston moves sideways and “Slaps”, or “Knocks” hard against the cylinder bore and causes damage to the engine pistons, and cylinders, excessive smoke emissions, excessive oil consumption, carbon buildup on piston heads, decreased mileage, and a loud and obnoxious “Slapping” or “Knocking” noise, all of which diminishes vehicle resale value.
112. A knocking engine could lower the value of a vehicle by $4,000 to $6,000 at trade-in.
113. Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Director Defendants, kept the Piston Slap Problem secret while they intentionally engaged in massive Wire, and Mail Fraud by advertising, and otherwise promoting, their defective GM Vehicles with the Piston Slap Problem, as good, dependable, vehicles without knocking motors, using misleading, fraudulent television advertising, radio ads, and the U.S. Mail, as described herein.
114. Plaintiff, Billy Kidwell, was deceived by Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Director Defendants, fraudulent ads on TV, the radio, and mail, into believing GM vehicles were great, without defects, and a good buy.
115. As a result of the Wire, and Mail Fraud, described here-in Plaintiff was tricked into buying a defective Chevy S-10 with a Piston Slap, and knocking engine.
116. Plaintiff’s 2003 Chevy S-10 is worth $4,000 to $6,000 less than if it didn’t have the Piston Slap.
(f) No Ethics, Just a “Cost Effective Policy“
117. GM advertises on its internet web site, and advertises elsewhere, that it has an Official Policy of Corporate Ethics, and honesty, set by CEO G Richard Wagoner, and GM’s Board of Directors.
118. Defendant’s claim of Corporate Ethics is fraudulent, and intended to deceive prospective customers, GM Stockholders, and the public, because CEO Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, are completely lacking in ethics, and have intentionally, and knowingly, killed children, for a profit, with their “Cost Effective Policy”.
119. This “Policy” of cost effectiveness, is set by GM Corporate Governance, which is the Rico Enterprise being sued, and often appears in GM studies, such as the Edward C. Ivey Report, and memos.
120. The cost effective policy works like this, if Defendants know a $2.40 part on a GM vehicle is defective, and can cause the death of an individual, Defendants will continue to use the Defective Part because they deem it is more cost effective, despite the deaths, and lawsuits from the wrongful deaths, to cheat, and endanger customers.
121. Defendants intentionally sell vehicles they know are not safe, and they know will cause a number of deaths, if they determine it is “Cost Effective” to do so, in effect killing for money, which is nothing less than manslaughter.

122. This cost effect policy is more easily understood by GM’s Edward C. Ivey Report, where GM put the value of a human life at $2.40, and figured if it cost more than $2.40 to make a dangerous GM vehicle safe, that it was not cost effective, and that GM would sell unsafe vehicles, GM Governance knew would cause deaths, and not make the vehicles safe because of the cost.
123. Defendants G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Director Defendants, have intentionally caused many deaths, with vehicles they knew were dangerous, and unsafe, to wrongly make a profit with their cost effective policy.

124. Defendants used cost effective policy in the instant case, where they knew Plaintiff’s vehicle is defective, and Defendants deem it more “Cost Effective” not to honor the warranty and to intentionally cheat the Plaintiff.
125. One specific purpose of the Cost Effective Policy is for personal gain for the Rico Enterprise, to enhance the employment of Defendants, G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, by justifying outrageous salaries, shocking bonuses, stock options, and other perks, such as a fleet of luxury jets.
126. After being deceived by Defendants into buying a GM Truck the Plaintiff discovered that GM was not making any more S-10 Trucks, and that his truck was one of the last off the assembly line, and full of defects.
127. Plaintiff’s S-10 had an engine knock, a transmission whining, and leaking fluid, doors that leaked when it rained, doors that wouldn’t open, endangering those inside the S-10, a gas gauge did not work, electrical shorts, an emergency break that did not hold, the truck swerved all over the road if you went over 40 miles per hour, and the truck would not start, and has not started in over three years.
128. On several occasions due to swerving, and a defective front end, Plaintiff’s S-10 almost caused serious accidents when Plaintiff tried to drive his brand new truck on I-75.
129.  One of the intended purposes Plaintiff had for buying the brand new Chevy S-10 from Defendants was to be able to safely drive the vehicle on I-75 to Ft. Myers, or Sarasota, or Tampa at speeds over 40 miles an hour to go to the VA.
130.  There is a whistle from air coming through the windshield where the gasket does not fit.
131.  There is some kind of electrical short and all the lights would go off unexpectedly at night endangering Plaintiff, and his family.
132. The transmission leaks, slips, and whines.
133.  The plastic handle on the passenger third door is broke, and keeps breaking when replaced, locking the passengers inside, endangering them, since they can’t get out.
134. The plastic door handle, described in the paragraph above, is made from an extremely cheap, fragile plastic, similar to the cheap plastic toys coming from China, and should have been made from medal since it constantly breaks after several uses, rendering the door inoperable, locking passengers inside, endangering them.  
135.  On other occasions the third door would unexpectedly open while driving, which meant the back passengers, which are usually children, and often Plaintiff’s daughter, could fly out the door and get killed.
136. The truck, on the rare occasions when it did run often left the Plaintiff, who has a side numb, a bad leg, and a very bad heart, stranded in the hot Florida sun, miles from help.
137. Plaintiff documented, and sent personal certified letter, after letter, to GM CEO Richard Wagoner, and each named member of the GM Board of Directors about these problems, and Plaintiff being disabled, and having to walk miles, which caused heart pains, and could’ve killed Plaintiff.
138.  The Chevy S-10 was dangerous, undependable, and not fit to be on the road.
139.  The Chevy S-10 from the very first day did not conform to its intended purpose of being safe, dependable, transportation for Plaintiff, and his family.
140. In addition, because the doors, and windows, constantly leaked water inside when it rains the inside of the truck is moldy and a health threat to simply sit in.
141. The mold in the truck caused Plaintiff to constantly be sick.
142. After numerous trips to the Chevy Dealer, and dozens of times being stranded, the manager of Palm Auto told Defendant that the truck was simply a lemon and that the dealership saw no use in trying to fix it anymore.

143. Plaintiff kept sending letter, after letter, to each member of the GM Board of Directors, and to GM CEO Wagoner.

144. Defendants failed to respond to any of the letters Plaintiff sent them.

(g) Rico Scheme to OBSTRUCT Plaintiff’s Access to Florida Law Chapter 681 “The Motor Vehicle Warranty Enforcement Act”
145. To protect consumers in situations, such as this, the Florida Legislature passed Chapter 681, cited as the Motor Vehicle Warranty Enforcement Act, and known as the Florida Lemon Law.
146. On July 12, 2004 Plaintiff sent a Notice of lemon defects on his truck to GM, exactly as required by Chapter 681, by certified mail.

147. Pursuant to F.S. 681.104(a) the GM Defendants had a time period of exactly ten (10) days to respond, or forever lose their right to make a final attempt to cure the nonconformities.

148. Defendants did not respond and Plaintiff kept sending letter, after letter, to GM by certified mail demanding his Lemon Law Rights.

149. Five months later in December of 2004 Defendant, Carolyn Westberg, called the Plaintiff and said that she was sorry that she had not responded within the ten (10) day limit, and stated that she had lost Plaintiff’s file for several months, and she promised someone would attempt to fix Plaintiff’s defective truck right away.

150. GM had clearly violated the F.S. 681.104(a) ten day time limits, and the Pro Se Plaintiff was legally entitled to return of his money paid for the truck.
151. Defendant, Carolyn Westberg, who is familiar with the Lemon Law Process, knew exactly what was necessary for GM to prevail against the Plaintiff, and she intentionally started falsifying the GM record of Plaintiff’s Truck, creating fraudulent documents in Plaintiff’s case, to deny Plaintiff “Meaningful” Access to the Lemon Law Process, and the Courts, by concealing the truth about GM’s violation of F.S. 681.104(4) and GM’s failure to respond within ten (10) days.
152. Defendant, Carolyn Westberg’s motive for the illegal falsifying of Plaintiff’s GM truck records was to enhance her employment with GM, and possibly receive perks, bonuses, or a pay raise.
153. It is clear from the Lemon Law Records that Defendant, Carolyn Westberg, conspired with other members of the Rico Enterprise to conceal, and falsify, GM records to deceive the Lemon Law Officer, and the State Courts.

154. Defendant Carolyn Westberg lied about the letter Plaintiff sent on July 12, 2004 giving Notice of lemon defects on his truck, and fraudulently claimed that it was not sent by certified mail.

155. Defendants had GM Lemon Law Representative, Stephen Nichols, commit perjury at the Lemon Law Hearing and lie about the phone call in December where Defendant, Carolyn Westberg, called Plaintiff and ADMITTED losing Plaintiff’s file, and not responding for over four months.
156. The Florida Lemon Hearing Officer found that Plaintiff’s S-10 was clearly defective, and had an ongoing engine knock, engine stalling, defective gas gauge, defective transmission, and that Plaintiff had sought to have it repaired in excess of the required number of times.
157. Since Plaintiff was legally entitled to return of his money Defendants engaged in a scheme to deceive the Hearing Officer about Defendant violating the ten (10) day time limit to make a repair attempt.
158. Defendant Carolyn Westberg falsified more GM records by fraudulently claiming that she attempted to call Plaintiff in August 6, 2004 and that Plaintiff’s phone was disconnected.
159. Phone records prove this was a lie.

160. Defendant Westberg was so busy falsifying GM records that she became confused and actually created three separate fake letters for December 14, 2004, that she fraudulently claims were sent to Plaintiff, that actually conflict with each other.
161. None of those letters were sent to Plaintiff, and would not have made sense to send, since they contradicted each other.

162. The only reason Plaintiff was denied relief from the Lemon Law Process was because of Defendant Westberg’s fraudulent documents Plaintiff did not see until December 2008.
163. At the hearing another GM employee, Stephen Nichols, testified, under oath, that a magic hurricane came to Port Charlotte and stopped mail, and phone service, at Plaintiff’s house on August 6, 2004.
164. Just as Defendant Westberg because confused lying so much and created three conflicting fake letters in one day, the GM Lemon Law Representative, Stephen Nichols, became confused lying and forgot that hurricane Charlie did not hit Florida until August 14, 2004, some eight days AFTER the date he testified under oath a hurricane stopped mail at Plaintiff’s house.
165. Plaintiff’s phone records prove Plaintiff’s phone operated perfect on August 6, 2004.
166. National Weather Service Records prove the weather was bright and clear on August 6, 2004, when GM had its employees commit perjury, under oath, fraudulently claiming a hurricane was stopping mail, and phone service, at Plaintiff’s house.
167. Defendants used the Rico Predicate Crimes of Fraud, Perjury, and Obstruction to deny Plaintiff “Meaningful” access to Florida’s Lemon Law Process.

168. It is now going on five years since Plaintiff has served the GM Defendants a Certified Lemon Law Notice that his Brand New Truck will not start, or run, and is not safe to drive if it could be started, and Defendants have not made a single attempt to repair said Vehicle.

169. It is now a year since the Written Warranty has run out and Defendants have, for the full time period of their written warranty, refused to honor said warranty or make any attempt to get Plaintiff’s now old truck running.

170. Defendants have clearly intended to criminally defraud Plaintiff.

171. Plaintiff’s S-10 has not started, or moved, since sometime in 2004.
172. Plaintiff has sent a minimum of nine separate Complaint Letters addressed personally to the CEO of General Motors, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each GM Board of Directors Member, Defendant, Percy N. Barmevick, Defendant, Erskine B. Bowles, Defendant, John H. Bryan, Defendant, Armando M. Codina, Defendant, George M.C. Fisher, Defendant, Karen Katen, Defendant, Kent Kresa, Defendant, Ellen J. Kullman, Defendant, Phillip A. Laskawy, Defendant, E. Stanley O’Neal, Defendant, Eckhard Pfeiffer, fully explaining that Plaintiff’s S-10 Truck is defective, undrivable, and won’t start, requesting that they honor their advertised “Corporate Responsibility” and provide Plaintiff with a working truck, like he paid them for.
173. In those letters to GM CEO, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each member of the GM Board of Directors, the Plaintiff described the facts contained in this lawsuit.
174. It was the Plaintiff’s hope that he would find just one honest person in the governance of General Motors that would either provide him with a working truck, like he paid Defendants for, or return his money.
175. Despite sending letter, after letter, to the CEO of General Motors, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each GM Board of Directors Member, Defendant, Percy N. Barmevick, Defendant, Erskine B. Bowles, Defendant, John H. Bryan, Defendant, Armando M. Codina, Defendant, George M.C. Fisher, Defendant, Karen Katen, Defendant, Kent Kresa, Defendant, Ellen J. Kullman, Defendant, Phillip A. Laskawy, Defendant, E. Stanley O’Neal, Defendant, Eckhard Pfeiffer, explaining the facts, as described above, there was not one honest person running GM, that would simply provide Plaintiff with what he had paid them for, a safe, working, truck, or be honest enough to return the money they stole from Plaintiff.
176. In those letters to GM CEO, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each member of the GM Board of Directors, the Plaintiff made those Defendants fully aware that Plaintiff is on a fixed income and that it was causing the Plaintiff Great Harm, and undue financial hardship, by his having to pay almost Four Hundred Dollars (the exact amount is $386.26) a month, for a S-10 Truck that would not even start, and endangered those that drove it, if they could get it running.
177. Plaintiff also explained in those letters to Defendant, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each member of the GM Board of Directors, that because the S-10 would not start, or run, that Plaintiff, who received a small government disability to live on, not only suffered a great financial hardship from paying every month, for a service ( a truck that would start, run, and was safe to operate) Defendants refused to provide, that Plaintiff also had to pay for another vehicle that would run, which would not have been necessary if GM honored its written warranty.
178. Plaintiff also explained in those letters to Defendant, G. Richard Wagoner, and each member of the GM Board of Directors, that because the S-10 would not start, or run, that the junk lemon S-10 Truck was sitting in Plaintiff’s driveway, since Plaintiff had no funds, or place, to store the junk, un-drivable, truck Defendants sold to him, which caused great hardship on Plaintiff, since he has a bad leg, a side numb, and is extremely disabled, and now had to park his running vehicle behind the junk truck, walking around, often in the rain, with groceries, while disabled.
179. Plaintiff also explained in those letters to Defendant, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each member of the GM Board of Directors, that the BBB, Florida Lemon Process had found the truck to be a lemon, and that the BBB ORDERED General Motors to make a last attempt to get the truck running.
180. Plaintiff also explained in those letters to Defendant, G. Richard Wagoner, and each member of the GM Board of Directors, that General Motors would not abide by the BBB Decision, and refused to send anyone to get the junk truck out of Plaintiff’s driveway, and refused to get the junk truck running, or make any attempt to honor the GM Written Warranty.
181. Plaintiff also explained in those letters to Defendant, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each member of the GM Board of Directors, that Plaintiff had been promised by GM’s attorneys several times that they were sending someone to “inspect” the defective, unsafe, non-running, lemon truck but that no one had ever showed up.
182. Plaintiff in addition to constantly contacting the CEO of General Motors, and each member of the GM Board of Directors, also asked the attorneys for GM, Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell, a number of times to abide by the BBB Chapter 681 Decision and to make a last effort to repair the defective lemon truck that was sitting in Plaintiffs driveway not running.
183. The attorneys with Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell refused.
184. The failure of the CEO, G. Richard Wagoner, and each member of the GM Board of directors, to abide by Chapter 681 decision and either have the defective, lemon, truck repaired, or replace it intentionally caused the Plaintiff to suffer massive pecuniary, and other, damages.
185. Those damages include the loss of use of his driveway for five years in this ongoing violation, loss of use of a new truck, which is what Plaintiff paid Defendants for.
186. Plaintiff suffered extreme financial hardship due to the loss of a large part of Plaintiff’s fixed income, as he has had to pay for a service (another truck for transportation) since Defendants have not provided Plaintiff a working truck, despite charging him for one.
187. Plaintiff had to pay insurance on a non-running vehicle for years, until he simply did not have enough money to buy food, and support a non-running truck too.
188. Plaintiff had to pay interest on a loan for a non-running vehicle.
189. Plaintiff had to borrow money due to the extreme financial hardship intentionally inflicted on Plaintiff by Defendants dishonest business practices, and violations of Chapter 618.
190. Plaintiff suffered severe damage to Plaintiff’s health due to massive, undue stress intentionally inflicted on Plaintiff by Defendants, with this wrongful conduct, despite their knowing Plaintiff has a severe stress disorder, and that undue stress caused the Plaintiff massive medical harm.
191. Plaintiff has suffered severe damage to Plaintiff’s health due to having to walk miles in the hot Florida sun while disabled, with a bad back in severe pain, a bad heart causing pain, a bad leg, and numb side, at least nine times due to the defective truck.
192. Plaintiff, a highly decorated 100% disabled Service-Connected Veteran, and his family, had to suffer a much lower standard of living, in essence losing five years of his life, due to the extreme financial hardship intentionally inflicted on him by the multi-millionaire Defendants, with their inhuman greed, and lack of ethics.
193. In those letters to GM CEO, G. Richard Wagoner, and to each member of the GM Board of Directors, the Plaintiff made those Defendants fully aware that Plaintiff is a 100% Service-Connected Severely Veteran with a stress disorder, and a history of stress-caused heart attacks, and that the conduct of CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors in not providing Plaintiff with a working vehicle, like he paid them for, and their engaging in the other wrongful conduct described herein was causing extreme harm to Plaintiff’s health.
194. GM CEO, G. Richard Wagoner, and each member of the GM Board of Directors, fully knowing that they were causing extreme harm to Plaintiff’s health, continued to intentionally harm him, with a specific intent to harm the Plaintiff, as described in this Complaint, removing any cap on Punitive Damages.
195. The motive of GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, in intentionally harming Plaintiff was to intentionally steal his money by not providing Plaintiff with what he paid them for.
196. Plaintiff has suffered damages from years of inhuman torture at the hands of this Rico Enterprise is excess of Defendants who have been awarded two, and three hundred million dollars for wrongful conduct by General Motors, and the conduct herein is far more massive, and appalling.
197. Defendants G. Richard Wagoner, and the named GM Board of Directors, use a Racketeering Scheme, that when victims of their mail, or Wire Fraud, attempt to use a Lemon Law Process, or sue in Court, the Defendants “rig” the process, and OBSTRUCT, victims, like the Plaintiff, violating their rights, while denying them “Meaningful” access to the Lemon Process, or the Courts.
198. Defendant’s goal is to make a dishonest profit by failing to provide consumers, such as Plaintiff, a dependable, safe, vehicle, like he paid for.
199. The appalling wrongful conduct of CEO G. Richard Wagoner, and the General Motors Board of Directors, is motivated solely by unreasonable financial gain, their greed, despite their knowing there was a high likelihood of Plaintiff, and/or other consumers, being harmed by their wrongful conduct.
200. Defendants, after being made fully aware that their conduct was harming the Pro Se Plaintiff, engaged in a specific intent to harm the Plaintiff, and did intentionally cause additional harm to the Plaintiff, which effectively removes any cap on Punitive Damages.
201. Defendants have lied to the State Court about all the letters Plaintiff sent to the GM Defendants.

202. Defendants are still concealing evidence, and documents, Plaintiff needs for “Meaningful” Access to the State Court, OBSTRUCTING access.

203. This lawsuit, and the illegal conduct of Defendants as described herein, is the very reason Congress passed the Rico Act.
(h) Multibillion Dollar Bailout Money Fraud on Congress, the American Public, and Plaintiff by Defendant G. Richard Wagoner
204. Defendant, GM CEO G. Richard Wagoner, is engaged in a massive, Multibillion Dollar Intentional Fraud on Congress, the American Public, and Plaintiff obtaining billions of dollars under the pretext of using said tax dollars to save GM, and provide stimulus to America.
205. To obtain these funds Defendant Wagoner first went to Washington in a Luxury Jet, and when such a waste of money was exposed, put on a show returning to Washington in a GM Vehicle.

206. Congress, the Public, and Plaintiff were deceived in that it was not publically exposed that the governance of GM has a whole fleet of Luxury Aircraft.

207. Congress, the public, and Plaintiff were deceived by Defendant Wagoner into believing those billions of taxpayer dollars would be used, in America, to help the American Economy.

208. In reality Defendant Wagoner sent substantial amounts of the intended Bailout Money to invest in Brazil.
209. Defendant Wagoner also deceived Congress, the Public, and Plaintiff by using substantial amounts of the Bailout money to actually fight taxpayers, by funding lawsuits against the States, and/or Federal Government.
210. Defendant Wagoner deceived Congress, the Public, and Plaintiff by using substantial amounts of the Bailout Money to fund crimes, such as described in this Complaint, and to pay corrupt attorneys, like Rumberger, Kirk & Caldwell to cheat American Consumers, like Plaintiff.

211. Plaintiff asks this Court to decide if Defendant can use fraud to deceive Congress, the Public, and Plaintiff in a scheme to obtain billions in tax dollars to use for criminal conduct, and to harm the American Economy by sending more GM Jobs overseas.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(C) OPERATION OF ENTERPRISE THROUGH RACKETEERING ACTIVITY
212. The Pro Se Plaintiff re-alleges, and incorporates, by reference paragraphs 1-209 above.
213. Plaintiff alleges that Defendants were employed by, and associated with each other, and engaged in conduct that constitutes a Rico Pattern of Racketeering Activity.

214. Defendants are engaged in, and constitute, a Rico Enterprise, as described in this Complaint.

215. Defendants constitute a loosely knit Association-In-Fact Rico Enterprise.

216. Defendants engaged in Racketeering Activity by committing, or aiding, and abetting, and/or conspiring to commit the crimes below;

(a) Mail Fraud in violation of Title 18 § 1341.

(b) Wire Fraud in violation of Title 18 § 1343.

(c) Violating Title 18 § 241.

(d) Violating Title 18 § 242.

(e) Manslaughter.
(f) Violating Title 18 § 1952.
(g) Violating Title 18 § 1957.

217. Plaintiff has suffered substantial damages, due to bad faith, and/or intentional wrongful conduct by Defendants, far in excess of cases where judgments of two or three hundred million dollars were awarded against Defendant(s), and therefore Plaintiff seeks the amount of One Billion Dollars ($1,000,000,000) from Defendants, or an amount this Court deems to be appropriate, and just.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(D) CONSPARICY TO VIOLATE 18 U.S.C. § 1962(C)
218. The Pro Se Plaintiff re-alleges, and incorporates, by reference paragraphs 1-215 above.
219. Defendants are associated with the aforementioned Rico Enterprise and they have agreed, and conspired, to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).
220. Defendants conspiracy to violate Title 18 § 1962 (c) is a violation of Title 18 § 1962 (d).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DECEIVING CONGRESS, THE PUBLIC, AND PLAINTIFF
221. The Pro Se Plaintiff re-alleges, and incorporates, by reference paragraphs 1-220 above.
222. Pro Bono Publico Plaintiff seeks to have this Court enforce the intent of Congress, as to the Billions of Tax Dollars in Bailout Money, by issuing an ORDER requiring Defendant G. Richard Wagoner, the CEO of General Motors, to be honest with Congress, the Public, and Plaintiff as to our tax dollars.

223. Specifically, Defendant Wagoner must honestly advise Congress, and the American Public, if Bailout Tax Dollars are being used to maintain a fleet of Luxury Aircraft, and/or used on other Luxury Items, not necessary for the success of GM, or a “Bailout”.

224. Defendant Wagoner must be honest with Congress, and the Public, and advise if Bailout Dollars earmarked for the American Economy are being used to create jobs overseas, or in other countries, such as Brazil.

225. Defendant Wagoner must assure Congress and the American people that Bailout dollars are used for their purpose, intended by Congress, and not to finance lawsuits against states, the Federal Government, or American Taxpayers.

226. Defendant Wagoner must not use tax dollars fraudulently obtained from Congress to fund illegal activities, such as Obstructing Courts, and intentionally cheating consumers, as in the instant lawsuit.

227. Any deception by Defendant Wagoner to deceive Congress renders the Bailout Program Unconstitutional, and a sham on both the government, and the public. 
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DIVERSITY
228. The Pro Se Plaintiff re-alleges, and incorporates, by reference paragraphs 1-228 above.
229. Defendants engaged in massive fraud to harm Plaintiff.

230. Plaintiff lives in Florida, and Defendants reside in other States.

231. The amount at issue in the lawsuit greatly exceeds seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as follows:

1. Declare that the actions of the Defendants violated the right(s) of Plaintiff as described herein.

2. Enter a permanent injunction directing Defendants to take all affirmative actions necessary to remedy the illegal conduct described herein.
3. For this Court to issue an ORDER enforcing the intent of Congress, as to taxpayer Bailout money, obtained, and/or sought by Defendant G. Richard Wagoner for General Motors.

4. For this Court to issue an ORDER requiring Defendant G. Richard Wagoner to be honest with Congress, and the Public, as to the use of the Federal Bailout Tax Dollars.

5. For this Court to issue an ORDER requiring Defendant G. Richard Wagoner to use the Federal Bailout Monies in the United States, and not to promote foreign economies.

6. Award Plaintiff one billion dollars ($1,000,000,000) or an amount to be determined at trial, in damages, that this Court deems to be proper, and just.
7. Award Plaintiff any other damages, or relief, that this Court deems to be proper, and just.
Respectfully submitted,
________________________                    February 20, 2009
Billy Kidwell, Pro Se
VERIFICATION
I, Billy Kidwell, certify the facts in this Verified Complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and beliefs.
__________________________                  February 20, 2009
Billy Kidwell

5064 Silver Bell Drive

Port Charlotte, FL. 33948
941-627-0433
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